IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,)	
Plaintiff-Appellee)	
)	CASE NO. 19-2112
)	
V.)	(Polk County Nos. SRCR326685,
)	SRCR327909, AGCR329728)
)	
JAMES VANDERMARK)	Appeal from Orders by Honorable District
Defendant-Appellant)	Judge William Kelly in
)	Polk County District Court
)	
)	FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT
)	
)	

Comes now James Vandermark, Appellant, by and through counsel, and

submits his final brief.

By <u>/s/ /Daniel M. Northfield/</u> Daniel M. Northfield, AT0005905 2959 100th St. Urbandale, IA 50322 Tel: (515) 331-2156 FAX: (515) 278-0421 Email: daniel@danielnorthfieldlaw.com ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT JAMES VANDERMARK

This case may be transferred to the Iowa Court of Appeals as it presents the application of existing legal principles.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of SRCR326685, SRCR327909, and AGCR329728, that were included in a sentencing order on November 22, 2019. See sentencing Order dated November 22, 2019, App. p. 115. In SRCR326685, the Court allowed an amended trial information filed one week prior to trial. See Order allowing amended trial information dated October 2, 2019, App. p. 65. The amended trial information included a habitual offender enhancement so that the total maximum possible time of incarceration increased from 1 year to 15 years. The See amended trial information, App. p. 55. Despite the amended trial information filed so close to trial, the Court denied the Defendant's motion to continue. See trial transcript in SRCR326685 for October 2, 2019, p. 44, lines 17, 18. The Defendant asked for a continuance due to the amended trial information one week prior to trial, but the judge did not grant the continuance. See Id. The total sentence for SRCR327909 was run consecutive to SRCR326685, for a total of 16 years. See sentencing order for SRCR326685, SRCR327909, and AGCR329728, App. p. 115. The jury in SRCR326685 found Vandermark guilty of willful injury and found that Vandermark "specifically intended to cause a serious injury" despite the victim testifying that after the incident he thought he was ok and didn't seek medical attention. SRCR326685 Trial Transcript October 2, 2019, p. 153 lines 21-25, p. 154 line 1. See also SRCR326685 jury instruction 21, App. p. 80. Notice of

Appeal was filed by Appellant on December 20, 2019. (See Notice of Appeal, App. p. 121)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

1. Trial information for SRCR326685 was filed May 29, 2019. See trial information, App. p. 45. Seven days prior to trial, the State amended the trial information SRCR326685 from a serious misdemeanor with a maximum penalty of 1 year in jail to Willful Injury, a class D Felony, including a habitual offender enhancement, with a maximum penalty of 15 years in prison. See amended trial information, App. p.55.

2. The new charge of willful injury had a different intent element. Willful injury requires the "specific intent to cause serious injury" that was not included in the original charge. See uniform jury instruction 800.11. The original charge was Assault Causing Bodily Injury. See original trial information, App. p.45.

3. Despite having an additional intent element, and a huge increase in maximum possible penalty from one year to 15 years, and despite the amended trial information being filed only 7 days prior to trial, the trial court denied the Defendant's request for a continuance. See trial transcript in SRCR326685 for October 2, 2019, p. 44, lines 17, 18.

4. The Defendant was found guilty of the amended charge of Willful Injury, a Class D Felony, with the habitual offender enhancement. See trial

transcript in SRCR326685 for November 22, 2019 p. 36, lines 19-24. The jury in SRCR326685 found Vandermark guilty of willful injury and found that Vandermark "specifically intended to cause a serious injury" despite the victim testifying that after the incident he thought he was ok and didn't seek medical attention. SRCR326685 Trial Transcript October 2, 2019, p. 153 lines 21-25, p. 154 line 1. See also SRCR326685 jury instruction 21, App. p.80.

5. An order sentencing the Defendant was filed November 22, 2019.(See sentencing order App. p. 115) The defendant was sentenced to a total of 16 years in prison, including other cases. See Id. p. 43 lines 7-9

6. Notice of Appeal was filed by Appellant on December 20, 2019. (See App. p. 121)

ARGUMENT

I. THE APPELLANT SHOULD HAVE BEEN GRANTED A NEW TRIAL IN SRCR326685 AS THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY ALLOWED AN AMENDED TRIAL INFORMATION AS THE AMENDED TRIAL INFORMATION WAS A WHOLLY NEW CHARGE AND PREJUDICIAL TO THE APPELLANT

Preservation of issue for review

The Appellant argued for a new trial based on the improperly allowed amended trial information. See Appellant's Motion for new trial and Motion in arrest of judgment filed November 18, 2019. App. p.102.

Standard of review

The normal standard of review is for "an abuse of discretion". State v. Valin, 724 N.W.2d 440, 444 (2016).

Argument

Amendments to trial informations may only done for error or omissions. See Iowa Court Rule 2.4(8). Iowa Court Rule 2.4(8) states "The court may, on motion of the state, either before or during the trial, order the indictment amended so as to correct errors or omissions in matters of form or substance. Amendment is not allowed if substantial rights of the defendant are prejudiced by the amendment, or if a wholly new and different offense is charged." Iowa Court Rule 2.4(a).

Correction

The state in its motion to amend trial information does not state that anything needed to be corrected. See State's motion to amend trial information. App. p.95. The state in its motion to amend trial information does not allege any error in the original trial information, or that anything was omitted in the original trial information. Id. On the contrary, the state decided it wanted to enhance the charge by a factor of 15 in maximum prison time and change the charge from Assault Causing Bodily Injury to Willful Injury with a habitual offender enhancement. There is no provision in the plain meaning of Iowa Court Rule 2.4(a) that allows amendment of the trial information just because the State wants to enhance a charge. See Iowa Court Rule 2.4(a). There must be correction needed. See Id. The State never even alleges any error in the original trial information. See State's Motion to amend trial information. App. p. 95. There was no error here. The state meant what it stated in the original charge. It fully meant to charge a serious misdemeanor. There was never any claim by the State that it did not mean to originally charge the case as a serious misdemeanor with a

maximum incarceration of one year. See Id. Then, 7 days prior to trial, it decided to enhance the charge in maximum incarceration by a factor of 15.

Prejudice to Defendant

"Amendment is not allowed if substantial rights of the defendant are prejudiced by the amendment....." Iowa Court Rule 2.4(a).

Clearly, substantial rights of the defendant were prejudiced. It is highly prejudicial to the Defendant that rather than facing one year of incarceration, the Defendant faced 15 years of incarceration.

Wholly New and Different Offense

In determining whether a charge is a "wholly new and different offense", the Court in <u>State v. Sharpe</u>, 304 N.W.2d 220, 223 (Iowa 1981) considered factors including whether there is a "great disparity in punishment", and whether there is an additional intent element. Id. at 222, 223.

In this case there are both of those factors. There is an extreme disparity of punishment. The trial information initially was filed May 29, 2019, charging the Appellant with Assault Causing Bodily Injury or Mental Illness, a serious misdemeanor. As a serious misdemeanor, this charge carries a maximum sentence of one year in jail. See Iowa Code 903.1(1)(b).

Trial was held October 2, and October 2, 2019. See Court Reporter certificate dated October 3, 2019. To the Apellant's surprise, on September 25,

2019 just 7 days prior to trial, the State filed an amended trial information,

charging the Appellant with Willful Injury, a class D Felony. See Amended Trial Information dated September 25, 2019, App. p. 55. The State also on September 25, 2019 gave notice of its intent to see the habitual offender enhancement, putting the requested sentence to 15 years in prison. See Notice of Habitual Offender Enhancement, Notice of Additional and Supplemental Minutes and Witnesses, filed September 25, 2019, App. p. 53. Therefore, the huge disparity in punishment went from 1 years maximum jail to 15 years maximum prison.

An additional element cited by the Sharpe court was an additional intent element. See State v. Sharpe, 304 N.W.2d, 220, 222 (Iowa 1981). The Appellant's original charge Assault Causing Bodily Injury or mental illness carried the following elements pursuant to uniform jury instruction 800.2:

800.2 Assault Causing Bodily Injury or Mental Illness - Elements. The State must prove all of the following elements of assault causing a [bodily injury] [mental illness]:

1. On or about the _____ day of _____, 20___, the defendant did an act which was intended to [cause pain or injury] [result in physical contact which was insulting or offensive] [place (name of victim) in fear of an immediate physical contact which would have been painful, injurious, insulting or offensive] to [him] [her].

2. The defendant had the apparent ability to do the act.

3. The defendant's act caused a [bodily injury] [mental illness] to (name of victim) as defined in Instruction No. _____.

If the State has proved all of the elements, the defendant is guilty of Assault Causing [Bodily Injury] [Mental Illness]. If the State has proved only elements 1 and 2, the defendant is guilty of Assault. If the State has failed to prove either element 1 or 2, the defendant is not guilty.

Iowa Uniform Jury Instructions 800.2.

The amended charge of Willful Injury required the following elements

pursuant to uniform jury instruction ____:

800.11 Willful Injury - Elements. The State must prove all of the following elements of Willful Injury.

1. On or about the ____ day of _____, 20__, the defendant (set forth facts of assault.

2. The defendant specifically intended to cause a serious injury to [the victim].

3. The defendant's acts caused a (bodily) (serious) injury to [the victim] as defined in Instruction No. _____.

If you find the State has proved all of the elements, the defendant is guilty of Willful Injury. If the State has proved only elements 1 and 3, the defendant is guilty of Assault Causing [Serious] [Bodily] Injury. If the State has proved only elements 1 and 2, the defendant is guilty of Assault With Intent to Inflict Serious Injury. If the State has failed to prove elements 2 and 3, the defendant is guilty of Assault. If the State has failed to prove element 1, the defendant is not guilty.

Iowa Uniform Jury Instructions 800.11.

Willful injury requires the "specific intent to cause serious injury". See uniform jury instruction 800.11. This is an additional intent element missing from the original charge.

Therefore, Willful Injury along with the habitual offender enhancement was a wholly new and different charge from the original charge of Assault Causing Bodily Injury or Mental Illness.

Therefore, the conviction and sentence for SRCR326685 should be overturned as the trial information should not have been allowed to be amended as it was a wholly new and different charge, and because no errors or omissions were listed that needed to be "corrected". The State fully meant the trial information as originally charged. There was no "correction", only that the State decided it wanted to drastically enhance the charge just before trial.

II. THE APPELLANT WAS ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL IN SRCR326685 BECAUSE THE COURT DENIED THE DEFENSE'S MOTION TO CONTINUE AFTER THE STATE AMENDED THE TRIAL INFORMATION ONE WEEK PRIOR TO TRIAL

Preservation of issue for review

The Appellant asked for a continuance at the time of the hearing on the motion to amend the trial information. See transcript of hearing on motion to amend trial information for SRCR326685 on October 2, 2019, p. 26 lines 1-3.

Standard of review

The normal standard of review is for "an abuse of discretion". State v. Valin, 724 N.W.2d 440, 444 (2016).

Argument

The Defendant asked for a continuance due to the amended trial information one week prior to trial, but the judge did not grant the continuance. See trial transcript October 2, 2019, p. 44, lines 17, 18. The "traditionally appropriate remedy for a defendant's claim of surprise: a continuance". State v. Brothern, 832 N.W. 2d 187, 194 (2013).

Surprise, Change of trial strategy

Iowa Court Rule 2.4(8)(d) states that "[w]hen an application for amendment is sustained, no continuance or delay in trial shall be granted because of such amendment unless it appears that defendant should have additional time to prepare because of such amendment".

"[A]n amendment prejudices the substantial rights of the defendant if it creates such surprise that the defendant would have to change trial strategy to meet the charge in the amended information". State v. Brothern, 832 N.W.2d 187, 193 (Iowa 2013).

The amended trial information was a surprise to the Defense. Defense counsel stated "Defense counsel stated "it does provide a surprise to the defense,

that this is going to be tried as a habitual offender enhancement". Trial Transcript in SRCR326685 for October 2, 2019, p. 11, lines 1-4.

In this case, the Defendant's trial counsel asked for a continuance as Defendant's trial counsel said that he would have prepared differently. See trial transcript in SRCR326685 for October 2, 2019, p. 30 lines 7-14. Defendant's counsel stated that their trial strategy might have included deposing the victim and getting an expert to testify regarding the nature of the injuries. See trial transcript in SRCR326685 for October 2, 2019, p. 30 lines 7-14.

Defendant's counsel stated that "it is prejudicial to Mr. Vandermark to have to defend these new – wholly new charges a week from trial and not be able to either get an expert to testify to the serious injury nature or possibly depose the defendant regarding his – the actual injury sustained, if they are different from what was reported in the police report". Transcript in SRCR326685 for October 2, 2019, p. 25, lines 18-24.

Willful injury requires the "specific intent to cause serious injury". See uniform jury instruction 800.11. Therefore, the strategy would need to look more carefully at defending against this intent element.

Lack of submitting witnesses 10 days prior to trial

Another reason that the Defense brought up as a reason resisting the amended trial information and asking for a continuance was that the prosecution violated the Iowa Criminal Rules of procedure in listing witnesses less than 10 days prior to trial.

Defense counsel stated:

"The notice for the Trial Information, Amended Trial Information, and the Minutes of Testimony were untimely. We have ten days before trial that those need to be submitted so we can adequately prepare for trial and understand what evidence we believe the State will call and what the witnesses will testify to that the State calls. Your Honor, this Amended Trial Information and Additional Minutes of Testimony were filed seven days prior to trial. So by statute, by code, they are untimely. Now if they are untimely, you look at Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.19(3), and it says that, essentially, we can ask for a continuance."

Trial Transcript in SRCR326685 for October 2, 2019, p. 10, lines 8-21.

Therefore, although the Defense counsel said it might not be necessary to depose the additional witness, nevertheless the State violated the notice requirement of the Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.19(3), and a continuance should have been given. See Id. The change in the underlying charge that included the additional witness provided a need for the Defense to have additional time to prepare. Defense counsel stated "it does provide a surprise to the defense, that this is going to be tried as a habitual offender enhancement". Trial Transcript for SRCR326685 on October 2, 2019, p. 11, lines 1-4. However, the judge did not grant the continuance. See Id., p. 44, lines 17, 18.

III. THE SENTENCE WAS OVERLY HARSH UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES IN THE COMBINED SENTENCES FOR SRCR326685, SRCR327909, AND AGCR329728

A. Preservation of issue for review

The Appellant argued for a lenient sentence. See Sentencing transcript for SRCR326685, SRCR3279090, and AGCR329728, p. 26. lines 10-16.

Standard of review

"We review sentencing decisions for an abuse of discretion when the "sentence is within the statutory limits" State v. Gordon, 921 N.W.2d 19, 24 (Iowa 2018) (internal citations omitted).

Argument

The defendant received a 15 year sentence for Willful Injury, a class D Felony in SRCR326685 that was enhanced under the habitual offender statute. See sentencing order, App. p. 115. The Defendant received an additional 1 year under SRCR327909 for Assault causing bodily injury, a serious misdemeanor. Id. The defendant received a 2 year concurrent sentence in AGCR329728 for Harassment in the First Degree, and Aggravated Misdemeanor. Id. The Defendant received the 15 year habitual enhancement for a total of 16 years. See Id.

Comparing the severity of punishment to the gravity of the crime can help in determining if the sentence was unduly harsh under the circumstances. See State v. Oliver, 812 N.W.2d 636, 636, 639 (Iowa 2012). In SRCR326685, Rodriguez told others that he was "ok" and didn't require medical attention. Trial Transcript for SRCR326685 on October 2, 2019, p. 153 lines 21-25, p. 154 line 1.

Under Iowa Code 901.5, the Court should consider what will provide "maximum opportunity for the rehabilitation of the defendant" in addition to "the protection of the community". Iowa Code 901.5. See also State v. Pearson, 836. N.W.2d 88, 97 (Iowa 2014). Although the sentencing court stated it considered some factors such as the defendant's age and mental health issues, it did not indicate how consecutive sentences in SRCR326685 and SRCR327909 would rehabilitate the defendant. Considering the defendant had already received a 15 year habitual offender enhancement, the Court did not explain how consecutive sentences in SRCR326685 and SRCR327909 was rehabilitative to the Defendant.

IV. THE APPELLANT SHOULD HAVE BEEN GRANTED A NEW TRIAL IN SRCR326685 BECAUSE THE JURY FOUND THE DEFENDANT GUILTY DESPITE HAVING INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE

Preservation of issue for review

The Appellant asked for a judgment of acquittal based on insufficient evidence in SRCR326685. See transcript for SRCR326685 on October 3, 2019, p. 3 line 19 to p. 4 lines 1-23.

Standard of review

The normal standard of review is for "an abuse of discretion". State v. Valin, 724 N.W.2d 440, 444 (2016).

Argument

The evidence did not provide sufficient evidence to convict Mr. Vandermark of the charge against him in SRCR326685.

"In a sufficiency-of-the-evidence challenge we review all the evidence to determine whether a rational trier of fact could have found the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. We view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State and draw all fair and reasonable inferences from all the evidence. We do not uphold a verdict on evidence that merely raises suspicion, speculation, or conjecture regarding guilt". State v. Williams, 574 N.W.2d 293, 296 (Iowa 1998). "Speculation and conjecture cannot be used to support a verdict". State v. Schitter, 881 N.W.2d 380, 391 (Iowa 2016).

In a sufficiency of evidence challenge, "[t]he evidence must be sufficient to convince a rational fact finder that the defendant is guilty beyond a reasonable

doubt". Id. "Speculation and conjecture cannot be used to support a verdict". State v. Schitter, 881 N.W.2d 380, 391 (Iowa 2016).

The jury instruction 21 required the following:

"The State must prove all of the following elements of Willful Injury Causing Bodily Injury:

 On or about April 10, 2019, the Defendant assaulted Edgar Rodriguez.

2. The Defendant specifically intended to cause a serious injury to Edgar Rodriguez.

3. The Defendant's act caused Edgar Rodriguez to sustain a bodily injury.

If the State has proved all of these elements, the Defendant is guilty of Willful Injury Causing Bodily Injury. If the State has failed to prove any one of the elements, the Defendant is not guilty of Willful Injury Causing Bodily Injury, and you must then consider the charge of

Assault with Intent to Inflict Serious Injury in Instruction No. 22."

See Jury Instruction 21, App. p. 80.

Willful injury requires the "specific intent to cause serious injury". See above jury instruction, uniform jury instruction 800.11.

Under Iowa Code 702.18, a serious injury is "any of the following:

a. Disabling mental illness.

- b. Bodily injury which does any of the following:
 - (1) Creates substantial risk of death.
 - (2) Causes serious permanent disfigurement.
 - (3) Causes protracted loss or impairment of the function of any bodily member or organ."

Iowa Code 702.18.

The evidence at trial failed to show beyond a reasonable doubt that the

Defendant specifically intended to cause serious injury.

The witness Edgar Rodriguez testified:

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