IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 19-2112

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

JAMES PAUL VANDERMARK,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR POLK COUNTY
THE HONORABLE WILLIAM P. KELLY (SRCR326685 TRIAL &
COMBINED SENTENCING), JEFFREY D. FARRELL (SRCR327909
TRIAL), & GREGORY D. BRANDT (AGCR329728 PLEA), JUDGES

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

THOMAS E. BAKKE
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976 (phone) (515) 281-4902 (fax)
Thomas.Bakke@ag.iowa.gov

JOHN P. SARCONI
Polk County Attorney

OLUBUNMI SALAMI & THOMAS TOLBERT
Assistant Polk County Attorneys

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Court did Not Err in Granting the State’s Motion to Amend the Trial Information.

Preservation of Error

The State partially contests error preservation. On appeal, Vandermark raises three challenges to the amendment of the trial information in case number SRCR326685: (1) the amendment was not a “correction” of the original trial information, (2) the amendment prejudiced his substantial rights, and (3) the amendment charged a wholly new and different offense. Appellant’s Br. pp.14–18. Although the State would agree that Vandermark resisted the amendment of the trial information (including the arguments that the amendment charged a wholly new and different offense and that it prejudiced Vandermark’s substantial rights), the State disputes that Vandermark preserved error for his argument that the amendment was not permissible because it was not a “correction.” *See*

SRCR326685 Resistance to Amend.; App. 57–64. This argument was not presented to the district court in Vandermark’s resistance, during the hearing before trial, nor even in the motion for new trial. The claim cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. *Meier v. Senecaut*, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002).

Standard of Review

Because Rule 2.4(8)(a) provides that the district court “may” amend the trial information, that decision is generally reviewed for abuse of discretion. *State v. Maghee*, 573 N.W.2d 1, 5 (Iowa 1997). Review shifts to correction of errors at law for questions concerning prejudice to the defendant’s substantial rights or whether the amendment charged a wholly new and different offense. *Id.*

Merits

Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.4(8) permits a court to grant the amendment of an indictment (and specifically a trial information through rule 2.5(5)). However, an “[a]mendment is not allowed if substantial rights of the defendant are prejudiced by the amendment, or if a wholly new and different offense is charged.” Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.4(8)(a). Vandermark asserts that the State’s amendment to the trial information both constituted a wholly new and different offense and

that Vandermark's substantial rights were prejudiced. The State disagrees.

A. The amendment did not charge a wholly new and different offense.

On appeal, Vandermark claims that the amendment constituted a wholly new and different offense for two reasons. First, he alleges there was an "extreme disparity of punishment." Appellant's Br. p.15. Second, Vandermark claims there was an added intent element. Appellant's Br. p.16–18. The State disagrees with both arguments.

Before addressing the specifics of Vandermark's argument it is necessary to dissect two challenges that Vandermark is attempting to improperly merge to show an "extreme disparity." The State modified the charge against Vandermark in two ways. First, the State amended the charge from assault causing bodily injury to willful injury causing bodily injury. *See* SRCR326685 Mot. to Amend; App. 51–52. Second, the State simultaneously provided notice that it sought the habitual offender sentencing enhancement. *See* SRCR326685 Notice Re: Habitual Offender; App. 53–54. In his brief, Vandermark attempts to combine the two modifications by overstating the disparity in punishment resulting from the amendment to the trial information. He claims that the "punishment

went from 1 years maximum jail to 15 years maximum prison.”

Appellant’s Br. p.16. And while Vandermark is correct that the total potential term of incarceration did increase to 15 years, he is incorrect in relying on that number for conducting the wholly-new-and-different-offense analysis.

The primary reason that the term of incarceration was increased to 15 years was the result of the addition of the habitual offender enhancement. *See* Iowa Code § 902.8. But the habitual offender enhancement is not a wholly new and different offense, nor is it even an offense. As the Iowa Supreme Court has explained, “Iowa Code section 902.8 (1983), a recidivist law, does not define a separate crime but merely constitutes a predicate for enhanced punishment.” *State v. Berney*, 378 N.W.2d 915, 919 (Iowa 1985), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Bruce*, 795 N.W.2d 1, 3 (Iowa 2011); *accord State v. Brothern*, 832 N.W.2d 187, 193 (Iowa 2013). Thus, Vandermark’s citation to the 15-year punishment is no more than a red herring, and this Court should decline to consider the addition of the habitual offender enhancement when conducting the wholly-new-and-different-offense analysis.

The Court considers numerous factors when determining whether an amended charge constitutes a wholly new and different offense. In *State v. Sharpe*, the Iowa Supreme Court considered whether the offenses had different elements and whether there was a “great disparity in punishment.” 304 N.W.2d 220, 223 (Iowa 1981). In *State v. Brisco*, the Iowa Court of Appeals additionally considered whether the amended charge involved the same “base prohibition” and whether “the amended trial information contained the same times, dates, and places of the alleged offenses.” 816 N.W.2d 415, 418–19 (Iowa Ct. App. 2012); accord *State v. Ruiz*, No. 18-1260, 2019 WL 3729562, at *1 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 7, 2019) (“The statute charged remained the same; the witnesses remained the same; the originally filed minutes of testimony supported the amended charges. Although the timeframe alleged in the amended counts differed from the original count, Ruiz was alerted to the source and nature of the evidence against him.”).

First, the State notes that little was changed by the amendment. The district court noted that both charges fall within the same code chapter and that the elements were “substantially similar.” SRCR326685 T.Tr. Vol.I 34:4–35:8; cf. *State v. Abrahamson*, 746

N.W.2d 270, 275 (Iowa 2008) (recognizing whether two offenses appear in different code chapters is a relevant consideration when determining if they are different offenses). “Both [charges] are talking about assaults. We are talking about bodily injury.”

SRCR326685 T.Tr. Vol.I 43:3–:8. The court also recognized that “[t]he time, date, place, defendant, person who was assaulted, all of those are same and those allegations have not changed,” and that Vandermark was accordingly on notice from the beginning as to what the State was alleging. SRCR326685 T.Tr. Vol.I 35:9–:11, 43:8–:11. Thus, the same base prohibition was involved—an assault that resulted in bodily injury—and the details of the offense were not changed.

Second, there was not a “great disparity in punishment” as Vandermark alleges. Assault causing bodily injury is a serious misdemeanor punishable incarceration up to one year. Iowa Code § 903.1(1)(b). Willful injury causing bodily injury is a class “D” felony punishable by incarceration not to exceed five years. Iowa Code § 902.9(1)(e). This four-year increase is not a “great disparity.” The great disparity noted by the Court in *Sharpe* resulted from the original punishment of 25 years’ incarceration being amended to life

imprisonment. 304 N.W.2d at 223. In contrast, in *State v. Maghee*, the Court found an amendment did not constitute a wholly new and different offense even though it increased the punishment from 10-years to 25-years. 573 N.W.2d at 5–6; *accord Brisco*, 816 N.W.2d at 419. The four-year increase in punishment here was significantly less than the 15-year increase found permissible in *Maghee*, and it did not amount to a “great disparity.”

Third, there was no additional element resulting from the amendment. In *Sharpe*, the Court recognized murder in the first degree includes additional elements not contained in the elements for murder in the second degree, thus making the amendment in that case improper. 304 N.W.2d at 223; *see* Iowa Code §§ 707.2–.3. Vandermark claims this case is like *Sharpe* because an element was added because of the amendment: specific intent to cause serious injury. Appellant’s Br. pp.17–18. The State does not agree this was an “additional intent element missing from the original charge.” Appellant’s Br. p.18. The Iowa Supreme Court has been clear that specific intent is an element of assault. *E.g.*, *State v. Fountain*, 786 N.W.2d 260, 265 (Iowa 2010) (“[T]he crime of assault includes a specific intent element.”). And while Vandermark cites the model

jury instructions for assault causing bodily injury to show that such a specific intent element is missing, he fails to recognize that the official comments for the jury instructions on assault specifically recognize that “the Supreme Court has repeatedly held that assault under Iowa Code sections 708.1(2)(a) and (b) contains specific intent components and therefore Iowa Criminal Jury Instruction 200.2 (Specific Intent) should be given.” Iowa State Bar Ass’n, Iowa Criminal Jury Instr. 800.1 cmt. (June 2019). Thus, contrary to Vandermark’s position, the inclusion of a specific intent element in willful injury was not an additional element because specific intent was already an element of the original charge. And even to the extent the specific intent element was modified or slightly different in the willful injury context, minor differences do not render a charge *wholly* new and different. *E.g.*, *Maghee*, 573 N.W.2d at 5 (finding amendment to drug charge with different weight threshold permissible); *Sharpe*, 304 N.W.2d at 223 (recognizing amendment charging different alternative permissible); *Brisco*, 816 N.W.2d at 419 (finding amendment proper even though “the amended trial information charged a different subparagraph of section 124.401 and a different controlled substance”). The elements

were not so different as to render the amended charge a wholly new and different offense.

The State's amendment did not charge a wholly new and different offense. The district court did not err in concluding the amendment was permissible. This Court should affirm.

B. Vandermark's substantial rights were not prejudiced.

The State first notes that Vandermark's entire prejudice-to-the-defendant argument (beyond partially quoting the rule on permitting amendments) comprises two conclusory sentences not supported by authority or citations to the record. Appellant's Br. p.15.

Vandermark's inadequate briefing on his claim that he was prejudiced should be deemed a waiver of that claim. It simply is not the duty of this Court to "speculate on the arguments [the appellant] might have made and then search for legal authority and comb the record for facts to support such arguments." *State v. Olds*, No. 14-0825, 2015 WL 6510298, at *8 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 28, 2015) (quoting *Hylar v. Garner*, 548 N.W.2d 864, 876 (Iowa 1996)). "[P]assing reference to an issue, unsupported by authority or argument, is insufficient to raise the issue on appeal." *State v. Louwrens*, 792 N.W.2d 649, 650 n.1 (Iowa 2010); see *Baker v. City of Iowa City*,

750 N.W.2d 93, 102-03 (Iowa 2008) (recognizing a conclusory statement without argument leaves an issue waived); Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(g)(3) (requiring citations to authority and the parts of the record or an issue may be deemed waived).

If this Court nevertheless considers the prejudice claim, the State submits it fails on the merits. The Iowa Supreme Court in *Maghee* explained that “[a]n amendment prejudices the substantial rights of the defendant if it creates such surprise that the defendant would have to change trial strategy to meet the charge in the amended information.” 573 N.W.2d at 6 (citing *State v. Fuhrmann*, 257 N.W.2d 619, 624 (Iowa 1977)). On appeal, Vandermark’s claim that his substantial rights were prejudiced does not allege that the State’s amendment amounted to a surprise or even that it required a change in trial strategy. Appellant’s Br. p.15. Instead, Vandermark’s sole claim of prejudice in his brief is the fact that Vandermark would be facing an increased term of incarceration if found guilty. Appellant’s Br. p.15. However, the same was true in *Maghee*, where the amendment resulted in the defendant facing a potential sentence of 25 years instead of 10 years. 573 N.W.2d at 5. But despite this 15-year increase, the Court still found the defendant was not prejudiced

by the amendment. *Id.* at 6. Thus, the mere fact that an amendment results in a different or increased punishment is insufficient to show that the defendant’s substantial rights were prejudiced. The State additionally notes that Vandermark was aware of the State’s amendment before trial and he still rejected a plea offer and to proceed with the jury trial. SRCR326685 T.Tr. Vol.I 13:19–18:25 (rejecting pre-trial plea agreement before court granted amendment with enhancement); *cf. Brothern*, 832 N.W.2d at 196 (holding that an enhancement may prejudice substantial rights of a defendant if it is added during trial and “the defendant had no prior notice of the State’s plan to amend and would have pled guilty had he or she known of that plan before trial”).

Vandermark has failed to show his substantial rights were prejudiced. He has failed to show that the court erred in granting the motion to amend the trial information. This Court should affirm.

II. The Court did Not Abuse its Discretion by Denying Vandermark’s Request for a Continuance of Trial.

Preservation of Error

In his resistance to the State’s motion to amend the trial information, Vandermark included a request for a continuance based on his claim of untimely notice of a State’s witness. SRCR326685

Resistance to Amend. pp.2–4 (“[A] continuance of the matter would be the appropriate remedy.”); App. 58–60. At the pre-trial hearing on the State’s motion to amend, Vandermark again requested more time to prepare. SRCR326685 T.Tr. Vol.I 10:19–11:4, 23:2–:9, 26:1–:4. The court denied his request for a continuance. SRCR326685 T.Tr. Vol.I 44:17–:18. The State does not contest error preservation.

Standard of Review

A district court’s decision to deny a motion to continue is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *State v. Clark*, 814 N.W.2d 551, 560 (Iowa 2012) (citing *State v. Artzer*, 609 N.W.2d 526, 529 (Iowa 2000)).

Merits

Under the rules of criminal procedure, continuances “shall not be granted except upon a showing of good and compelling cause.” Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.9(2). “[A] trial court has ‘very broad’ discretion in ruling on a motion for continuance.” *State v. LaGrange*, 541 N.W.2d 562, 564 (Iowa Ct. App. 1995) (citing *State v. Sieren*, 111 N.W.2d 249, 250 (Iowa 1961)). “The trial judge must sense whether a given continuance motion stems from a legitimate need, or from a wish to delay. From its closer vantage point, the trial court can better sort

through these matters than an appellate court can.” *State v. Teeters*, 487 N.W.2d 346, 348 (Iowa 1992). The denial of a request for a continuance will not be “reversed on appeal unless an injustice has resulted.” *State v. Leutfaimany*, 585 N.W.2d 200, 209 (Iowa 1998) (citing *State v. Grimme*, 338 N.W.2d 142, 144 (Iowa 1983)).

Vandermark asserts that the district court erred in denying his motion to continue. He specifically asserts that he was entitled to a continuance because of the surprise of the amended charge and an allegedly late notice of a State’s witness. The State disagrees and submits Vandermark has failed to show the district court abused its discretion.

Vandermark’s request for continuance was based on three distinct rationales. First, Vandermark claimed he received late notice of a witness. *See* SRCR326685 T.Tr. Vol.I 10:19–11:2. Second, Vandermark claimed he was surprised by the addition of the habitual offender enhancement. *See* SRCR326685 T.Tr. Vol.I 11:2–:4. Third, Vandermark claimed he needed additional time to prepare a defense against an allegation of a serious injury. *See* SRCR326685 T.Tr. Vol.I 20:10–21:10, 24:14–:25. The court considered and rejected each of these rationales, essentially concluding that Vandermark’s request

was not truly based on an essential need for additional time to prepare.

First, Vandermark claimed that the State provided late notice of a witness. Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.19 states:

If the prosecuting attorney does not give notice to the defendant of all prosecution witnesses (except rebuttal witnesses) at least ten days before trial, the court may order the state to permit the discovery of such witnesses, grant a continuance, or enter such other order as it deems just under the circumstances. It may, if it finds that no less severe remedy is adequate to protect the defendant from undue prejudice, order the exclusion of the testimony of any such witnesses.

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